

Ingredient Definitions Committee Report Meeting via Webinar

October 28, 2021, 3:30PM – 5:00PM Eastern

Video recording of the meeting is posted in the BIN at: https://aafco.mocaworks.com/viewer/?eID=1989425

Recommendations to the Board and Association membership:

When needed, text is presented in appendix A. Workgroup reports are in appendix B.

- 1) Move T**73.430(A) L-Lactic Acid** from tentative to official, Set up new subsection "Sequestrants (73.426- 449)" in the Official Publication.
- 2) Publish the MSBC document at the end of OP chapter 5.
- 3) Make the following changes in ODI: (tentative changes do not go into ODI) **

ODI Action	Name	Reference	Comments
Add Ingredient	L-Lactic Acid	73.430	Business meeting
name // add			xx/xx/xxxx
reference			

**ODI updating—in order to add transparency of the impact of committee decisions on the Online Database of Ingredients (ODI) label validation tool, the committee recommendations will include a table of the anticipated changes to ODI to reflect changes to common or usual names and/or references in the OP. It is anticipated this table will also appear in the front of the OP with the dates of adoption by the Association Membership. OP section editors are responsible for the accuracy of the ODI updates.

Board Action:

To be considered in November 2021

Association Action:

To be considered in January 2022



Recommendations not needing further Association review -none-

Referrals to other AAFCO committees: -none-

Minutes IDC October 28, 2021

The Committee met virtually with over 140 attendees. Committee member roll call on Google Doc was Displayed by Kent Kitade. A quorum was present with 18 out of 25 voting members present including Richard Ten Eyck, Laura Scott, Kent Kitade, Mika Alewynse, Ken Bowers, Erin Bubb, Stan Cook, Dave Dressler, James Embry, Ashlee-Rose Ferguson, Jacob Fleig, Darrell Johnson, Ali Kashani, Dan King, Dave Phillips, Nathan Price, Cory Skier, Kimberly Truett, Charlotte Conway (FDA)..(no vote),Jennifer Kormos..CAN....(no vote)

Absent: George Ferguson, Maggie Faba, Brett Groves, Falina Hutchinson, Mark LeBlanc, Tom Phillips, Kelli Younker, Shannon Jordre (FDA)......(no vote)

- 1) *Hemp Update Falina Hutchinson, MT Ingredient definition was submitted in February in 2021. CVM has asked the firm some questions. The BOD would like to do a round table discussion, preferably in person Chair provided an update that the Hemp Coalition, Hemp Oil FAP is close to submission.
- 2) Move T**73.430(A) L-Lactic Acid** from tentative to official, Set up new subsection "Sequestrants (73.426- 449)" in the Official Publication. Jacob Fleig moves, Ken Bowers Seconds, Motion Passed
- 3) Common Food Index Procedures- Kent Kitade Discussion was very brief. Expect more in January. Still needs to run procedures past the non-defined workgroup. Common food index subcommittee is Kent Kitade, David Phillips, Katie Simpson and Jo Lynn Otero. Discussion continued on the basics of differences between common food and GRAS ingredients as well as approved intended uses.
- 4) MSBC Workgroup Report -Austin Therrell (not present). Richard Ten Eyck presented a document "Recommendation for use of Menadione Sodium Bisulfite Complex (MSBC) in Animal Feed" that had been re-written by some of the MSBC expert panel members. A motion to include the document in the OP at the end of chapter five (page 333) was moved by Nathan Price, was seconded by Jacob Fleig. After significant discussion including moving the conclusion to the top of the document and whether the entire document should go into the OP the *motion passed with all in favor and none opposed*.



Association of American Feed Control Officials Jean Hofve mentioned that there are additional studies showing adverse effects of MSBC that are not included in this document. This document is not the expert panel report and recommendations. The committee accepted that report in August of 2021. Discussion continued about when this document would be removed or shortened without conclusion. There was good support for the document. Leah Wilkinson asked if this document would next go to model bill? After discussion the BOD liaison agreed that this document does not need to go through model bill committee. The document will go to the BOD for recommendations and onto Membership for acceptance to be published in the OP. The committee thanks the panel for the extra work! The workgroup is disbanded.

- 5) Review use of finished feed vs complete feed in chapter 6 of the OP CVM This has evolved into a workgroup being led by Kimberly Truett. Plan more time to deal with it in January. She is looking for input for regulators and industry.
- 6) Discussions on changing established common or usual names:
 - a. topic 1(Corn Gluten Meal):- Dan King Discussion covered some of the history of the definition. How do we go about changing names when industry changes their nomenclature? Industry is in favor of changing the name. The "gluten" in the name is misleading. At what point does an ingredient definition get reviewed? Direct fed microbials (36.14) need to be part of this conversation or updating process. Lactobacillus is undergoing a nomenclature change. Discussion continued on what level of data would be needed to make a change. No conclusions were made or actions taken.
 - b. topic 2 (Bagasse)- Mark LeBlanc (not covered)
 - c. Workgroup report on sunsetting (withdrawing) procedures for common or usual names in the OP. – (need a new lead) The scope of this workgroup will be expanded to include how to change a common or usual name. Workgroup members currently include Leah Wilkinson AFIA, PFI, Kristi Smedley, Jean Hofve, NGFA Dave Fairfield, US Poultry James Embry, Ken Bowers, Dave Edwards and Maggie Faba.
- 7) <u>ICG workgroup report</u> 6/23/21– Richard Ten Eyck The workgroup had good discussions around the resistance to regulators recognizing ICG's and to firms sharing them widely. Jacob Fleig moved to accept the workgroup report. Motion seconded by Laura Scott. Motion passed unanimously. Report is attached in appendix B.



- 8) Update on the ingredient submission workshop modules Meagan Davis CVM slide content is complete, CVM is working on narration and being sent to the instructional designer soon. On track to be ready late spring 2022. The face to face workshop will be held in August 2022 at annual meeting (St. Louis). Nathan Price is co-chair on the project. They will have additional updates in January.
- 9) Online training modules for ingredient requests (IDP). Sue Hays, E.D. Course available 11/1/21. <u>Link here</u> Course is intended for formulators, AAFCO members wanting a better understanding of the process of bringing ingredients into the marketplace.
- 10)Discussion on Pet Food ingredients How are intended species identified in the OP? Most questions are coming from pet food formulators. Desire is to gather information for developing future training. Good discussion of common or usual name sources including ODI.

11)Adjourned 5PM EST

Announcements

- A. Next Meetings: January 2022 MOBILE, ALABAMA!
- B. New Investigators:
- C. **Stale Ingredients:** The following are being removed from consideration as definition requests. Please submit a new request if still desired. a.
- D. Parking Lot topics:
 - a. Facilitate a round table discussion on the use of hemp in animal food.
 - b. NANP Subcommittee report -have not met -Ashley Shaw /Casey/Al
 - c. ODI Subcommittee report working on getting ODI changes table in front of OP –Jacob, Kelly
 - d. **FROM PFC (draft):** Vitamin common names for pet food should be addressed by IDC independent of the PFLM project. Information from the qualitative consumer research should be provided to the IDC. Work of the IDC common vitamin name workgroup should be quantitively consumer panel tested preferably at the same time as the PFLM changes.
 - e. Remove calcium Lignin Sulfonate from ODI.



- f. Human Grade feed term edits accepted by IDC in January 2021 are being held until the human grade guidelines are passed out of model bill committee.
- g. Bring tentative definitions up for review to move to official.
- 12)

Minutes were approved 11/17/21 with the following members not voting: Laura Scott, George Ferguson, Kent Kitade, Mika Alewynse, Dave Dressler, James Embry, Dave Phillips, Tom Phillips and Kelli Younker.



Appendix A for IDC 10/28/21 minutes

Changes For OP page 455 to move 73.430 to official:

Tentative Sequestrants (73.426- 449)

T73.430(A) L-Lactic Acid a sequestrant with a minimum content of 97% L-lactic acid on a dry matter basis for use in dry cat food products (less than 20% moisture). It is intended for use as a dental plaque and tartar control agent for adult maintenance cat food at levels not to exceed 1.2% on a dry matter basis. (Proposed 2021 rev. 1)

For addition to the AAFCO Official Publication 2021 rev1 at page 333 (end of chapter 5):

Recommendations for Use of

Menadione Sodium Bisulfite Complex (MSBC) in Animal Feed

Editor: Chair of Ingredient Definitions Committee

In 2021 AAFCO convened a panel of experts to provide policy recommendations for the use of Menadione Sodium Bisulfite Complex (MSBC) for intended uses beyond poultry feed. The panel recommended that Menadione Sodium Bisulfite Complex may be used as a safe and suitable source of Vitamin K activity in the food for all animals in the United States in accordance with good manufacturing and feeding practices. To reach their conclusion the expert panel carefully examined:

- 1. Confidential industry data demonstrating the safety of MSBC in both short- and long-term feeding studies at usual dietary inclusion rates.
- 2. An independent scientific literature review of MSBC and related compounds.
- The 2014 European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) publication
 "Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of vitamin K3 (menadione sodium bisulphite and menadione nicotinamide bisulphite) as a feed additive for all animal species."



In addition to the above, the expert panel noted that MSBC and the structurally related Menadione Nicotinamide Bisulfite (MNB) are authorized for use as vitamin K active substances in food for all animals in the European Union (EU) under Commission Regulation No. 2015/2307 (EC 2015) and in Canada under Schedule IV, Part I of the Feed Regulations, 1983 (CFIA 2020).

Review of Vitamin K and Vitamin K Active Substances^{1.}

In his experiments to determine whether cholesterol was a dietary essential, Henrik Dam discovered a new substance, which he named vitamin K. In 1929, he observed a hemorrhagic syndrome in chicks fed a diet from which the sterols were extracted. Eventually, an active, anti-hemorrhagic factor was isolated from alfalfa and was identified as a vitamin K substance. The characterization of this anti-hemorrhagic factor was done by Edward Doisy of St. Louis University. Dam and Doisy shared the Nobel Prize in 1943 for the discovery of vitamin K and its chemical nature (Suttie 2009).

The major clinical sign of vitamin K deficiency noticed in all species is the impairment of blood coagulation. Clinical signs include, but are not limited to, increased clotting time and hemorrhage. Vitamin K deficiency can also lead to impaired bone mineralization due to inadequate levels of osteocalcin, a protein involved in bone mineralization.

Deficiencies may result from inadequate vitamin K in the diet, disruption of microbial synthesis within the gut (e.g., antibiotic use), inadequate absorption from the intestine, ingestion of vitamin K antagonists (substances that counteract the effect of vitamin K), or the inability of the liver to utilize available vitamin K. In many species, under normal health conditions endogenous synthesis of vitamin K is sufficient to meet metabolic needs without the requirement for a dietary source. However, in addition to medical conditions and/or use of therapeutic agents that may result in impaired synthesis, absorption or utilization



of vitamin K, acquired vitamin K deficiencies may also occur due to other dietary factors. For example, cats fed commercial canned diets high in salmon or tuna were found to suffer prolonged coagulation times, gastrointestinal and hepatic hemorrhages and death (Strieker et al., 1996). However, these signs were not observed when the animals were given supplemental phylloquinone (vitamin K₁). High dietary intake of sources of long-chain omega-3 fatty acids may also result in signs of vitamin K deficiency (Mameesh and Johnson, 1959; Saker et al., 1998). Because other fat-soluble vitamins may compete and hence interfere with vitamin K absorption, the addition of high levels of tocopherols to retard oxidation (for either preservative or nutritional reasons) in the food may be an aggravating factor in the development of a vitamin K deficiency. Vitamin K is generally known to exist in three forms, two of them are naturally occurring and one is a synthetic analogue which can be found naturally on normal Vitamin K metabolic pathways:

- Vitamin K1, also known as phytonadione or phylloquinone, is the form of vitamin K that occurs naturally in plants.
- Vitamin K2, or menaquinone, also naturally occurring, is the fat-soluble form of vitamin K synthesized by the bacteria in the intestinal tract. Bacteria can synthesize a range of related forms of this vitamin. These vitamin K analogues are collectively known as K2 and can be designated by length of sidechain, e.g., MK-4, MK-7, etc.
- Vitamin K3, also known as menadione, is the synthetic, water soluble analogue of vitamin K that can be converted to K2 by bacteria in the intestine. Enzymes in mammalian and avian tissues are also capable of converting menadione to the active forms of vitamin K. Menadione is also a metabolite of Vitamin K active substances consumed orally (Thijssen 2006, Hirota 2013).

The structures of the different vitamin K forms are shown in Figure 1. Vitamin K1 and K2 contain a common 2-methyl-1,4-napthoquinone ring but differ in terms



of the length and degree of saturation of the polyisopropenoid side chain at position 3. In vitamin K1 the side chain is a phytyl substituent comprising 4 isoprenyl units of which one is unsaturated, whereas in vitamin K2 a variable number of isoprenyl units are present in the unsaturated form. Vitamin K3 contains the same 2-methyl-1,4-napthoquinone ring but the alkyl side chain is replaced with a hydrogen (menadione) or sulfate derivative (eg, sodium bisulfite). The menadiones must undergo prenylation in the intestinal tract and tissues in order to become a biologically active form (menaquinone form) of vitamin K which can be utilized by the animal.



Figure 1: Structure of the Different Forms of Vitamin K

 Na⁺⁻O
 Na⁺⁻O
 Na⁺⁻O

 Menadione
 Menadione sodium bisulfite complex (MSBC)
 Menadione nicotinamide bisulfite (MNB)



As mentioned above, Vitamin K3 refers to a group of water soluble menadiones which are converted in the intestinal tract of animals to vitamin K2 (menaquinones) and then absorbed. The menadione content of MSBC is approximately 50% by weight, and that of MNB approximately 44% (EC 2015). This general group of menadiones has been shown to be metabolized by the same pathways in all animals studied (Hirota 2013, Okano 2008, Terachi 2011). Under normal physiological conditions, lipid soluble vitamins K1 and K2 can be absorbed in cooperation with bile acid and pancreatic enzymes (Shearer 1975). Absorbed phylloquinone is partly converted to MK-4 consistent with menadione acting as an intermediate metabolite (Thijssen 1996, Okano 2008). The release of menadione can occur in the intestine and it can undergo prenylation both in the intestine and tissues. Menadione is expected to be absorbed from both the small intestine and colon of animals by passive diffusion (NRC 2006).

Ever since its initial discovery, vitamin K has been known to be important in the clotting process of blood, because of its involvement in the synthesis of four plasma clotting proteins. These proteins are factor II (prothrombin) and factors VII, IX, and X. More recent studies have shown that vitamin K also plays a role in calcium metabolism. According to Vitamin Tolerances of Animals (NRC 1987), the dietary adequacy of vitamin K is often defined as the amount of the vitamin needed to maintain normal levels of plasma vitamin K-dependent clotting factors.

Poultry, such as broiler chickens and turkeys, are more likely to develop signs of vitamin K deficiency than other species of animals, which can be attributed to their short digestive tract and the fast rate of food passage. Ruminant animals such as cattle and sheep do not appear to need a dietary source of vitamin K under normal health conditions due to the microbial synthesis of this vitamin that occurs in rumen. However, a dietary source may be important in preruminant animals (e.g., calves and lambs). Since horses are herbivores, notwithstanding factors that may interfere with synthesis, absorption or



utilization their vitamin K requirements are typically met by consumption of vitamin K sources present in plants and from microbial synthesis in the lower gut. In comparison, omnivorous and carnivorous monogastrics such as swine, dogs, and cats, may be less efficient at gut synthesis as well as less likely to consume large quantities of vitamin K-containing plant materials than horses or ruminants.

Different sources of vitamin K₃, including those that are listed in the Association of American Feed Control Officials' Official Publication as accepted for use in animal feed, are broadly denoted as Vitamin K Active Substances (VKAS). There are two VKAS that are prior sanctioned for use in poultry feed. (Prior sanction means that these vitamin K active substances were used in poultry feeds prior to 1958, so they have a history of safe use, and they are the subject of a formal FDA sanction of the ingredient for a particular use; the sanction is generally in the form of a letter from FDA stating that the use is acceptable.) These prior sanctioned substances are menadione and menadione sodium bisulfite complex (MSBC). These two compounds are also widely used in other types of animal feeds, including pet foods, as animal nutritionists often formulate diets with vitamin K active substances in order to prevent vitamin K deficiencies.

Menadione dimethylpyrimidinol bisulfite and menadione nicotinamide bisulfite are vitamin K active substances that are regulated as food additives for use in animal feed. Federal regulation 21 CFR 573.620 lays out how menadione dimethylpyrimidinol bisulfite must be used in feed. Menadione dimethyl pyrimidinol bisulfite is a nutritional supplement for the prevention of vitamin K deficiency in chicken and turkey feeds at a level not to exceed 2 g per ton of complete feed, and in the feed of growing and finishing swine at a level not to exceed 10 g per ton of complete feed.

Menadione nicotinamide bisulfite is also used as a nutritional supplement for both the prevention of vitamin K deficiency and as a source of supplemental



Association of American Feed Control Officials Final 11/17/21 version 2 niacin in poultry and swine. Federal regulation 21 CFR 573.625 states that this substance can be added to chicken and turkey feeds at a level not to exceed 2 g per ton of complete feed, and to growing and finishing swine feeds at a level not to exceed 10 g per ton of complete feed.

Substances with vitamin K activity are often added to animal diets to ensure that animals do not develop vitamin K deficiencies. Even though many vegetable sources, particularly leafy greens (e.g., spinach, kale, and collard) and cruciferous vegetables (e.g., broccoli and Brussels sprouts) contain fairly high amounts of vitamin K, very little is known about the actual bioavailability of the vitamin from these sources. According to Vitamin Tolerances of Animals (NRC 1987), based on the limited amount of available information, vitamin K did not result in toxicity when high amounts of phylloquinone, the natural form of vitamin K, are administered by oral or other means. In human nutrition, the Food and Drug Administration considers the inclusion of commercially available phylloquinone (chemically synthesized, but identical to that naturally occurring in plants) not only to be "safe and suitable" for its intended use in infant formulas, but also a required component of all formulations (FDA, 1996). Although FDA does not expressly list or affirm this use of phylloquinone in infant formulas (or any other use) to be GRAS (Generally Recognized as Safe), an independent review of the available information did conclude that that phylloquinone, when manufactured in accordance with specifications set forth for use in infant formulas and other foods for human consumption, to be GRAS when fed at nutritional levels for its intended use in foods formulated for dogs and cats (Delaney and Dzanis, 2018),

It is also noted that menadione, the synthetic vitamin K usually used in animal feed, can be added up to levels as high as 1,000 times the dietary requirement without seeing any adverse effects in animals, except when used parentally in horses. Vitamin K and the vitamin K active substances serve important roles in providing an essential nutrient in animal diets.



A survey of the feed industry performed by the American Feed Industry

Association found that

MSBC is added to the feed of the following species at the inclusion rates provided in the

following table. The broad use of MSBC in feed for all species has been a common practice for

over 15 years according to the records of one vitamin premix manufacturer.

	MSBC mg/Kg dry	
Species	feed	
Broilers	6 - 8	
Layers	6 - 10	
Ducks	6 - 7	
Geese	6 - 10	
Quail, pheasants, partridge	4 - 8	
Ostrich, Emu	4 - 8	
Turkeys	6 - 8	
Swine, grower/finisher	4 - 8	
Swine, starter	10 - 12	
Bovine calves	1 - 3	
Cattle	1 - 5	
Cervids	2 - 3	
Sheep	0.5 - 1	
Goats	0.3 - 1	
Salmon & Trout	16 - 24	
Tilapia & catfish	10 - 20	
Shrimp	8 - 14	
Tropical Fish	16 - 24	
Horses	6 - 20	
Rabbits	2 - 4	
Mink	2	
Small rodents	0.5 - 1	
Dogs	3 -5	
Cats	2 - 4	

Table 1 Typical Inclusion Levels



Review of Safety Studies

An important consideration when reviewing adverse effects of menadione and related compounds is the route of exposure; parenteral (especially intravenous) versus oral administration. As previously described, all vitamin K active substances have the same 2-methyl-1,4-napthoquinone ring as part of their chemical structure. Excess exposure of red blood cells (RBC) to menadione can cause methemoglobin formation *in vitro* by an oxidative reaction with hemoglobin with the formation of reactive oxygen species, often resulting in lysis (Winterbourn 1979, Chung 2001). Menadione has also been shown to exert oxidative stress in cells and cause lesions in multiple organs (including heart, lung and kidney) in rats following 5 intravenous injections of menadione at 100 and 150 mg/kg bodyweight, given every other day (Chiou 1997).

From NRC 1987:

The toxicity of menadione is undoubtedly not related to its role as a precursor for tissue synthesis of an active form of vitamin K but because of its chemical properties as a quinone.

The adverse effects of menadione on RBCs (e.g., methemoglobinemia, Heinz Body anemia, hemolytic anemia) have been shown in clinical cases where menadione has been given by the intravenous route (Rebhun 1984, Maxie 1992, Fernandez 1984) with kidney damage and death reported in some animals.

Under experimental conditions, animals have been shown to tolerate great excesses of menadione when administered by the oral route, with extreme levels of menadione (when compared with nutritionally adequate levels) causing similar adverse effects to RBCs in animals as was observed *in vitro* as well as that seen when menadione was administered by the intravenous route.



In a repeated dose oral toxicity study, rats were provided by gavage o (control), 250, 350 or 500 mg/kg bodyweight menadione daily suspended in acacia gum for 30 days (Molitor 1940). The weight of the animals was recorded daily and blood was sampled at weekly intervals. Administration of menadione had no effect on the growth of the rats, and levels of up to 350 mg/kg bodyweight/day were not associated with any adverse effects on overall health. Menadione was reported by the authors to be lethal at 500 mg/kg bodyweight, with animals dying sporadically over the 30-day feeding period. No adverse effects on blood parameters were reported in rats provided 250 mg/kg bodyweight/day of menadione but a dose of 350 mg/kg bodyweight/day was associated with a notable decrease in erythrocyte count and hemoglobin concentrations (Molitor 1940). The apparent No-Observed-Adverse-Effect-Level (NOAEL) from this 30day study was 250 mg menadione/kg bodyweight/day. Assuming the rats consumed 50 g DM (dry matter)/kg bodyweight/day (5% body weight as DM intake), the equivalent dietary level of menadione would equal 5,000 mg/kg DM food.

In a series of studies that were broad based but limited in design and detail, Ansbacher 1942 evaluated the acute and chronic oral toxicity of menadione in several different species, specifically mice, chickens, rats, rabbits, cats, dogs and monkeys. Acute oral toxicity studies were conducted in mice, chicks and rabbits and median lethal doses (LD50) of 620 mg/kg bodyweight, 804 mg/kg bodyweight and between 230 and 280 mg/kg bodyweight, respectively, were determined. Two cats were provided menadione daily at 2 mg/kg bodyweight orally for 72 days without adverse effects to blood parameters or tissue pathology. Two additional cats were given menadione daily orally at 50 mg/kg bodyweight for 13 days, again without adverse effects to blood or tissues. Assuming a cat consumes 15 -50 g DM/kg bodyweight/day (depending on life stage), the dose of 2 mg/kg bodyweight/day of menadione is equivalent to a dietary level of 40 -133 mg menadione/kg DM food. Similarly, the menadione dose level of 50 mg/kg bodyweight/day tolerated by cats for 13 days, equates to a dietary menadione



Association of American Feed Control Officials level of 1,000 mg/kg DM food. For comparison, the AAFCO Cat Food Nutrient Profiles consider 0.1 mg/kg DM of food as adequate for nutritional purposes.,

In an analogous study (Ansbacker 1942), two dogs were provided a daily 2 mg/kg bodyweight of menadione orally for 73 days with no reports of adverse effects. Assuming a dog consumes 15-40 g DM/kg bodyweight/day (depending on life stage), the menadione dose level of 2 mg/kg bodyweight/day tolerated by dogs over the 73-day period is equivalent to a menadione dietary level of 50 - 128 mg/kg DM food.

In other additional studies of menadione given orally (Ansbacher 1942), two 18day old puppies provided daily with 40 or 80 mg/kg bodyweight of menadiol dipropionate (an alternative source of menadione) exhibited temporary anemia. When repeated oral doses of menadione were administered to rabbits, 28-36 daily doses of 4 mg/kg body weight were well tolerated. Also, monkeys (1/group) provided with 1 mg/kg bodyweight of menadione for 12 or 50 days did not exhibit any treatment-related effects.

The effects of menadione on the cardiovascular system of rats was evaluated in a study by Melgar et al. (1991). Sprague-Dawley rats received gradually increasing oral doses of menadione for 6 weeks, starting at 5 mg/kg bodyweight per day and increasing to 20 mg/kg bodyweight per day in the third week and 40 mg/kg bodyweight per day in the fifth week of treatment. An electrocardiogram, blood pressure change, and hematological analysis were performed in weeks 2, 4 and 6 as well as before and after treatment. At the end of the experiment, the hearts of 2 rats/group were processed for electron microscopy. Heart, spleen and liver weights were determined and subjected to histopathological examinations. The administration regime was generally well tolerated with no effects of menadione on growth or hematology parameters. Some alternations in blood pressure were reported as well as an increase in spleen weight.

Summary of Safety Review



Taken together, the available toxicological data indicate that under the conditions of intended use in the diet as a vitamin K active substance at levels consistent with the nutritional requirements of the animal, menadione and by extrapolation, MSBC is not expected to be associated with any adverse effects.

LD50 values of greater than 200 mg/kg bodyweight and up to 804 mg/kg bodyweight were determined for a range of different animal species. An apparent 30-day rat NOAEL of 250 mg menadione/kg bodyweight/day was shown, equal to dietary level of 5000 mg/kg DM.

By comparison, supplementation of the diet of cats with 0.1 mg menadione/kg DM food ("0.1 mg Vitamin K/kg DM in diets containing >25% fish on a DM basis. ", AAFCO 2021) is equivalent to an intake of approximately 2 μ g/kg body weight/day. The NRC 2006 recommends the diets of adult dogs and growing puppies are supplemented with 22 μ g and 44 μ g menaquinone/kg bodyweight/day, respectively, well below levels tolerated in experimental diets. Similarly, 72- and 73-day feeding studies in cats and dogs, respectively, reported that intakes of 2 mg menadione/kg bodyweight/day were not associated with any adverse effects, which is around 1,000 time higher than the nutritional level of vitamin K supplementation in cats, and 90 and 45 times higher than for adult dogs and growing puppies, respectively. See Table 1 for typical use levels.

The primary adverse effects observed at high levels of oral supplementation with menadione in rats and other animals were decreases in red blood cell count and blood hemoglobin levels.

EFSA Review Summary:



The safety of MSB (identical to MSBC, but not complexed with additional bisulfite in the final product) and MNB for use as vitamin K active substances in feed for all animal species was evaluated by the European Food Safety Authority in 2014 (EFSA, 2014). On the basis that vitamin K1, K2 and K3 share a common metabolic fate in animals, EFSA considered the body of available published and unpublished absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion (ADME) and toxicology data on all forms of vitamin K in its evaluation. Overall, EFSA concluded that acute toxicity of menadione or its derivatives is reached at levels exceeding the requirements of animals for vitamin K by a factor of at least 1,000, and therefore, MSBC and MNB does not pose a safety concern for target animals under practical conditions of use.

Conclusion

The expert panel recommended that Menadione Sodium Bisulfite Complex may be used as a safe and suitable source of Vitamin K activity in the food for all animals in the United States in accordance with good manufacturing and feeding practices.

Footnotes

1. Majority of content, unless specifically referenced, taken from (FDA 2008): <u>https://www.fda.gov/animal-veterinary/safe-feed/vitamin-k-substances-and-animal-feed</u> Accessed October 5, 2021.

References

AAFCO. 2021. Association of American Feed Control Officials (AAFCO) Official Publication (OP). AAFCO cat food nutrient profiles and AAFCO dogs and cats food feeding protocols. Chapter Four – Model Bill and Regulations.



Ansbacher S, Corwin WC, Thomas BGH. 1942. Toxicity of menadione, menadiol and esters. Journal of Pharm and Exp Therapeutics. 75(2):111-124.

CFIA. 2020. Canadian Food Inspection Agency. Schedule IV, part II, entry 7.14 Menadione sodium bisulphite complex and 7.1.29 Menadione nicotinamide bisulfite. Administrative Schedules IV and V of Feed Regulations (1983) in Canada [Updated version obtained from CFIA in June, 2020]. Enforcing regulation: <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/sor-83-593/page-1.html</u> Accessed October 5, 2021.

Chiou TJ, Zhang J, Ferrans VJ, Tzeng WF. 1997. Cardiac and renal toxicity of menadione in rat. Toxicology. 124(3):193-202.

Chung SM, Lee JY, Lee MY, Bae ON, Chung JH. 2001. Adverse consequences of erythrocyte exposure to menadione: involvement of reactive oxygen species generation in plasma. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 63(8):617-29.

Delaney SJ, Dzanis DA. 2018. Safety of vitamin K_1 and its use in pet foods. J Amer Vet Med Assoc 252(5):537-542.

EC. 2015. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/2307 of 10 December 2015 concerning the authorisation of menadione sodium bisulphite and menadione nicotinamide bisulphite as feed additives for all animal species. Official Journal of the European Union, L326, pp.49-53.

EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed). 2014. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of vitamin K3 (menadione sodium bisulphite and menadione nicotinamide bisulphite) as a feed additive for all animal species. EFSA Journal 2014;12(1):3532, 29 pp. https://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3532 Accessed October 7, 2021.

FDA.(Food and Drug Administration) Title 21 Code of Federal Regulations §106 and 107. Current good manufacturing practice, quality control procedures, quality factors, notification requirements, and records and reports for the production of infant formula. *Fed Regist* 1996;132:36154–36219.

FDA (Food and Drug Administration). Pillai PB, Alewynse MG, Benz SA. 2008. Vitamin K Substances and Animal Feed. FDA Veterinarian 23(5):4, 8-9. https://www.fda.gov/animal-veterinary/safe-feed/vitamin-k-substances-and-animal-feed Accessed October 5, 2021.

Fernandez FR, Davies AP, Teachout DJ, Krake A, Christopher MM, Perman V. 1984. Vitamin K-induced Heinz body formation in dogs. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 20:711–20.



Hirota Y, Tsugawa N, Nakagawa K, Suhara Y, Tanaka K, Uchino Y, Takeuchi A, Sawada N, Kamao M, Wada A, Okitsu T, Okano T. 2013. Menadione (vitamin K3) is a catabolic product of oral phylloquinone (vitamin K1) in the intestine and a circulating precursor of tissue menaquinone-4 (vitamin K2) in rats. J Biol Chem. 288(46):33071-80.

Maxie G, van Dreumel T, McMaster D, and Baird J. 1992. Menadione (vitamin K3) toxicity in six horses. Can Vet J 33:756-757.

Mameesh MS, Johnson BC. Production of dietary vit. K deficiency in the rat. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1959;101:467–468.

Melgar MJ, Anadon A, Bello J. 1991. Effects of menadione on the cardiovascular system. Vet Hum Toxicol. 33(2):110-4.

Molitor H, Robinson HJ. 1940. Oral and Parenteral Toxicity of Vitamin K1, Phthiocol and 2 Methyl 1, 4, Naphthoquinone. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 43(1):125-128.

Munday R, Smith BL, Fowke EA. 1991. Haemolytic activity and nephrotoxicity of 2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone in rats. J Appl Toxicol. 11(2):85-90.

NRC (National Research Council). 1987. Vitamin Tolerance of Animals. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/949</u>.

NRC. 2006. Nutrient requirements of dogs and cats. The National Academies Press. Available at: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/10668/nutrient-requirements-of-dogs-and-cats

Okano T, Shimomura Y, Yamane M, Suhara Y, Kamao M, Sugiura M, Nakagawa K. 2008. Conversion of phylloquinone (Vitamin K1) into menaquinone-4 (Vitamin K2) in mice: two possible routes for menaquinone-4 accumulation in cerebra of mice. J Biol Chem. 283(17):11270-9.

Rebhun WC, Tennant BC, Dill SG, King JM. 1984. Vitamin K3-induced renal toxicosis in the horse. JAVMA. 184:1237-1239.

Saker KE, Eddy AL, Thatcher CD, et al. Manipulation of dietary (n-6) and (n-3) fatty acids alters platelet function in cats. *J Nutr* 1998;128:2645S–2647S.

Shearer MJ. Vitamin K. Lancet. 1995 Jan 28;345(8944):229-34.

Strieker MJ, Morris JG, Feldman BF, et al. Vitamin K deficiency in cats fed commercial fish-based diets. *J Small Anim Pract* 1996;37:322–326.



Suttie JW. 2009. Vitamin K in Health and Disease. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Terachi T, Inoue Y, Ashihara N, Kobayashi M, Ando K, Matsui T. 2011. Plasma vitamin K concentration in horses supplemented with several vitamin K homologs. J Anim Sci. 89(4):1056-61.

Thijssen HH, Vervoort LM, Schurgers LJ, Shearer MJ. 2006. Menadione is a metabolite of oral vitamin K. Br J Nutr. 95(2):260-6.

Winterbourn CC, French JK, Claridge RF. 1979. The reaction of menadione with haemoglobin. Mechanism and effect of superoxide dismutase. Biochem J. 179(



Workgroup Reports accepted by IDC:

ICG workgroup report to IDC 6/23/21

Recommendations: None at this time.

Discussion:

The workgroup took a 24 month pause but came back together on 6/10/21. We reviewed the workgroup goals and progress made on them the last 2 years. Then discussed some of the barriers for firms sharing Independent Conclusions of GRAS for an intended use and ways to motivate the sharing.

The goal is to decrease the duplication of effort by state regulators as they see the ICG ingredients on labels or during inspections as well as decrease the time to market for new ingredients.

Additional staff at CVM is letting the technical reviews they perform move faster. AAFCO has decreased the amount of time a new definition has to sit in tentative status.

Currently ICG's are being collected by regulators and being placed in the feed BIN regulator only reading room.

We discussed offering industry incentives to share ICG's into the BIN.

Some of the barriers discussed for the sharing of ICG's:

- Concern with competitors gaining access to the data
- Concern with regulators without adequate knowledge evaluating the packages (and sharing their conclusion)
- Firms no longer having control of the information
- Concerns over disparity of state acceptance.

Concerns over current ICG's in the marketplace (these are generalities):

- Quality of ICG's still varies widely
- Lack of knowledge for how to assemble an adequate safety data package to support a ICG
- Firms relying on non-public information for their conclusions
- Suppliers not willing to share ICG with customers
- Firms not understanding the role of intended use.

Why industry uses ICG's

• Perception that the spirit of the GRAS regulation is not being implemented at CVM (human food GRAS functions differently)



 Association of American Feed Control Officials
 GRAS notices are being held to a higher standard than a food additive petition (perception).

Next Steps: Meet again on __7/13/21 8:30AM PST

